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          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:  Good afternoon,

          3  and welcome to today's Fiscal 2000 Executive Budget

          4  Hearing on the Department of Health, the Department

          5  of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Alcoholism

          6  Services, the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner,

          7  and the Health and Hospitals Corporation.

          8                 There are many issues and concerns

          9  that will deal with today's hearing involving all of

         10  these agencies.

         11                 This budget contains new programs and

         12  this budget contains cuts. However, I want everyone

         13  here, my colleagues on the Committee, the

         14  Commissioners and the public, to keep in mind two

         15  very important facts that weave themselves into this

         16  budget hearing:

         17                 Fact number one, there is a $2

         18  billion budget surplus.

         19                 Fact two, the City is due about $250

         20  million from the tobacco settlement funds. As we

         21  discuss budget cuts, and the direction of the health

         22  care in this City, I will always keep in mind these

         23  two figures.

         24                 Now, let me introduce my colleagues

         25  who are joining us, and that is Council Member Una
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          2  Clarke From Brooklyn, who is the Chair of the

          3  Subcommittee on Mental Health, Mental Retardation

          4  and Alcoholism Services. As my colleagues come in, I

          5  see Council Member Kathryn Freed from Manhattan, I

          6  will introduce them, and I see that Commissioner

          7  Neal Cohen is here wearing his hat as the

          8  Commissioner of the Department of Mental Health,

          9  Mental Retardation and Alcoholism Services, but

         10  before I call upon him, let me call upon the

         11  distinguished chair of the Subcommittee, Council

         12  Member Una Clarke, in the event that she has any

         13  opening statement to deliver, not only to us but

         14  also to the Commissioner.

         15                 Council Member Clarke.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Mr. Chairman,

         17  I will just let you proceed and then I will ask my

         18  questions, in the interest of time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Again, as

         20  we begin, let me remind you of the two factors that

         21  I think are very important, that I believe as Chair

         22  of this Committee and working with Una Clarke as the

         23  Chair of the Subcommittee that I will keep in mind

         24  as we deliberate the adoption of this budget when it

         25  comes to health services and health care, is that
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          2  again, I want to repeat, there is a $2 billion

          3  surplus, and then factor number two is that the City

          4  is due another $250 million from the tobacco

          5  settlement funds.

          6                 Commissioner, before you get started,

          7  let me just say that I want to commend the

          8  Administration and you as Commissioner, although I

          9  will do that again when you sit as Commissioner of

         10  Health, but because I know that when the tobacco

         11  settlement and people started talking about how they

         12  are going to use those funds, there was no mention

         13  that the tobacco settlement was a health issue, and

         14  then in the beginning they talked about 15 million

         15  be used and I see that in this budget when the

         16  Department of Health comes again and you will be

         17  here, I just want to, in case I forget, to remind

         18  you that now I see and I have to commend the

         19  Administration and you, sir, that it is now $30

         20  million, so I don't want to start on the wrong foot

         21  always being critical.

         22                 But since you are here as the

         23  Commissioner of the Department of Mental Health,

         24  please proceed with your testimony and also

         25  introduce those that are with you, and then we will
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          2  ask questions.

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Thank you. I am

          4  Neal Cohen, Commissioner of the Department of Mental

          5  Health, Mental Retardation and Alcoholism Services.

          6  On my left is Elsie DelCampo, Deputy Commissioner

          7  for Program Services. To my immediate right is Mr.

          8  Dan Still, First Deputy Commissioner, and to his

          9  right Carlos Diaz, Deputy Commissioner for Child and

         10  Adolescent Services.

         11                 I am pleased to have this opportunity

         12  to address you today, and I would like to thank the

         13  City Council for its continuing support of the

         14  Department and its goals.

         15                 I am pleased to report that the

         16  Executive Budget for FY 2000 contains some

         17  significant budgetary increases. These increases

         18  include an additional $15.6 million and $20.6

         19  million for the early intervention program for FY

         20  2000 respectively, an additional $2 million in FY

         21  '99 and $5 million in Year 2000 for the Methadone

         22  Maintenance to abstinence programs in HHC; and

         23  $500,000, in Year 2001, to fund the portion of the

         24  operating costs not covered by New York State for

         25  500 units to be built as part of the New York/New
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          2  York II Agreement.

          3                 The additional $500,000 has been

          4  placed in the budget for Year 2001 because it is

          5  anticipated that the construction of the capital

          6  units will not be completed during Fiscal 2000.

          7  However, there are funds available for supportive

          8  housing, rental units, in Fiscal Year 2000.

          9                 Beginning in FY 2000, the early

         10  intervention program will be consolidated into the

         11  Family Health Services Division of the Department of

         12  Health.

         13                 The proposed consolidation of early

         14  intervention services at the Department of Health

         15  will, I believe, strongly preserve the components of

         16  the existing program while affording numerous

         17  opportunities critical for integrating health,

         18  rehabilitation and mental hygiene services, which

         19  address developmental disabilities.

         20                 The transfer of this program to the

         21  Department of Health will also enable the City to

         22  receive state Article 6 reimbursement for the cost

         23  of early intervention program administration thereby

         24  generating more than $3 million in savings.

         25                 With the additional $5 million for
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          2  methadone maintenance to abstinence funding, HHC

          3  will enhance the Methadone Programs to ensure that

          4  they focus on moving patients off Methadone,

          5  developing abstinence from addictive substances and

          6  increasing placements in competitive employment.

          7                 In addition, HHC plans to contract

          8  with an employment service entity with demonstrated

          9  expertise in the areas of job development, reduction

         10  of barriers to employment, placement of clients with

         11  a wide range of educational levels, and experience

         12  in permanent, full and part-time employment. The

         13  goal of this contract will be for the clients to be

         14  placed in competitively paid positions.

         15                 I would now like to discuss several

         16  current Department initiatives.

         17                 With regard to the $9.5 million of

         18  substance abuse funding placed in the Department's

         19  FY '99 budget by the City Council, I am pleased to

         20  report that in the voluntary sector the Department

         21  is utilizing a negotiated acquisition process to

         22  initiate 16 new substance abuse programs within the

         23  City.

         24                 These programs, funded at $200,000

         25  each, include a MICA Program, or Mentally Ill

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            9

          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2  Chemically Abusing Program, for Staten Island, ten

          3  adult substance abuse treatment programs with two in

          4  the Bronx, two in Brooklyn, three in Manhattan, two

          5  in Queens and one in Staten Island, and five

          6  adolescent substance abuse treatment programs, with

          7  one in the Bronx, two in Manhattan, one in Queens

          8  and one in Staten Island.

          9                 In addition, the homeless, the

         10  forensic population, and victims of domestic

         11  violence are three special populations that will

         12  receive a portion of the substance abuse funding.

         13  The La Bodega Program at the Vera Institute is

         14  receiving $370,000 in the current fiscal year to

         15  continue and expand its services to its client

         16  population on the lower east side. This funding will

         17  continue in FY 2000.

         18                 The services are provided in a family

         19  case management program model, providing a broad

         20  array of services to dischargees from the Criminal

         21  Justice System who have a history of substance

         22  abuse.

         23                 Services extend to their families as

         24  well. Prevention and relapse services and a 24-hour

         25  crisis support line are also provided. The
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          2  Department is initiating three supported work

          3  programs through the Department of Homeless Services

          4  that will address the needs of the Homeless

          5  substance abuser. These programs in the Bronx,

          6  Brooklyn and Manhattan to be funded at $265,000

          7  each, will provide rehabilitation in four phases and

          8  feature an integrated work component. The programs

          9  offer treatment and increase the client's ability to

         10  both secure employment and to maintain it, as well

         11  as to gain stable housing.

         12                 In the Bronx, the Department is

         13  expanding the training component of its mental

         14  health domestic violence contract to also include

         15  alcohol substance abuse agencies.

         16                 The training involves how to engage

         17  and retain domestic violence victims in treatment.

         18  The resource materials regarding programs and

         19  services available to domestic violence victims will

         20  be provided to these agencies as well.

         21  Forty-thousand dollars has been allocated to this

         22  initiative.

         23                 The Department is also enhancing

         24  three mentally ill chemical abuser programs, each

         25  with $200,000. The enhancement of these three
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          2  programs will allow them to serve additional adult

          3  mentally ill substance abusers in the Bronx,

          4  Brooklyn and Queens.

          5                 In addition, the Department will

          6  enhance an adolescent substance abuse program in

          7  Brooklyn.

          8                 The Health and Hospitals Corporation

          9  is in the process of implementing its eight funded

         10  substance abuse initiatives, which will utilize the

         11  full amount of $4.3 million in Fiscal Year 2000.

         12                 These programs include:

         13                 The growth and recovery project in

         14  the Bronx, utilizing teams from North Central Bronx

         15  and Jacobi Hospital, which will integrate primary

         16  care, substance abuse and psychiatric services. It

         17  is expected that the program will provide these

         18  needed services to 200 clients annually.

         19                 Four care coordination and vocational

         20  enhancement programs in the Bronx, Brooklyn and

         21  Queens. The programs will be located at Lincoln

         22  Hospital, Coney Island Hospital, WoodHull and

         23  Elmhurst Hospital.

         24                 An adolescent substance abuse program

         25  located in Northern Manhattan at the Renaissance
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          2  Health Care Network which will provide integrated

          3  care services, including substance abuse, mental

          4  health and primary care services for adolescents,

          5  ages 13 through 18.

          6                 A centralized intake system operating

          7  out of Bellevue and Gouverneur Hospitals in southern

          8  Manhattan to ensure that clients receive appropriate

          9  treatment.

         10                 A therapeutic community in Brooklyn

         11  for adults who need a more structured living

         12  environment in order to succeed.

         13                 Turning now to alcoholism services,

         14  of the $1 million placed in the Department FY '99

         15  budget by the City Council, the Department has

         16  utilized $450,000 for the enhancement of three after

         17  school counseling services. This enhancement will

         18  provide services to an additional 700 adolescents in

         19  the Bronx, Brooklyn and Manhattan.

         20                 $350,000 has been used to augment

         21  counseling and social services for an additional 425

         22  families in Manhattan and Queens.

         23                 The remaining $200,000 has been used

         24  to enhance alcoholism prevention, outreach and

         25  educational services to an additional 3,000
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          2  school-aged children in Brooklyn.

          3                 Also, in the area of alcoholism, as

          4  you are aware, in October 1995, the Department and

          5  the State Office of Alcoholism and Substance Abuse

          6  Services, or OASAS, initiated a pilot study of four

          7  alcoholism outpatient clinics. Data collection

          8  continued until August 31st, 1998.

          9                 The well-known Addiction Severity

         10  Index was administered to clients upon their

         11  admission and subsequently during treatment at

         12  90-day intervals up to one year. A post treatment

         13  follow-up was conducted on an average of nine months

         14  after discharge.

         15                 The Treatment Motivation Readiness

         16  Scales were also administered at admission to find

         17  out whether there is any association between

         18  motivation and readiness scores and retention in

         19  treatment.

         20                 The findings included:

         21                 The likelihood of completing

         22  treatment varied by age, ethnicity and polysubstance

         23  abuse.

         24                 There was no association between a

         25  client's treatment motivation and readiness scores
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          2  admission and their retention in treatment at the 30

          3  and 90-day treatment point.

          4                 And treatment was effective --

          5  treatment effectiveness was positively associated

          6  with length of stay.

          7                 Clients in the study showed

          8  significant improvement in four key areas, declines

          9  in alcohol abuse, substance abuse, improved

         10  psychological functioning and reduced criminal

         11  behavior.

         12                 Turning now to the area of mental

         13  health. The Department has utilized $250,000 of the

         14  $500,000 placed in the Department's FY '99 budget by

         15  the City Council to establish a forensic-linked

         16  program in the Bronx. This program will serve up to

         17  160 adult clients annually who have had involvement

         18  in the criminal justice system and who have been

         19  diagnosed with a mental illness that prevents their

         20  functioning in the community without assistance or

         21  treatment.

         22                 The Department has utilized $200,000

         23  to enhance four mental health programs, with $50,000

         24  increments to each, serving the immigrant

         25  populations in the Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens and
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          2  Manhattan.

          3                 The funding enhancement will allow

          4  immigrant programs to increase their information and

          5  referral services to 475 children and adolescents.

          6                 These programs will focus on

          7  informing children and adolescents about mental

          8  illness, mental retardation and alcoholism and the

          9  available services, and will refer those who are

         10  identified as being at risk to appropriate services.

         11                 These services will be provided in

         12  schools and other places which children and

         13  adolescents frequent, such as community centers and

         14  churches.

         15                 And the remaining $50,000 of the

         16  mental health allocation will be used to supplement

         17  funding for a new immigrant program in Brooklyn

         18  serving the Caribbean population.

         19                 To reiterate what I discussed in

         20  March, the additional million dollars that is placed

         21  in the Department's FY '99 budget by the City

         22  Council for mental retardation services, has been

         23  utilized to establish ten adult weekend respite

         24  programs, five work readiness programs and five

         25  after school programs.
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          2                 The new adult weekend respite

          3  programs will provide services to 200 additional

          4  individuals. The five work readiness programs serve

          5  60 adults at any given time, with more served as the

          6  consumers move into long-term supportive employment

          7  programs.

          8                 The five after school respite

          9  programs will serve children, ages five through 12,

         10  with mental retardation and/or developmental

         11  disabilities who also have physical disabilities and

         12  other behavioral problems. It is anticipated that

         13  these programs will serve 90 additional children.

         14                 Regarding housing needs for the

         15  developmentally disabled, the Governor's proposed

         16  budget for state fiscal year 1999/2000 includes the

         17  first year of funding for the New York State CARES

         18  Program. The Governor had announced in August this

         19  comprehensive five-year plan to virtually eliminate

         20  the waiting list for residential services for people

         21  with developmental disabilities in New York State.

         22  The plan will not only include placement

         23  opportunities for those who are currently on the

         24  waiting list, but includes those who are expected to

         25  apply for residential placement in the future.
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          2                 Over the course of five years, the

          3  plan will add a total of nearly 4,900 new community

          4  beds state-wide, in the initial phase, 3,000 beds

          5  will be developed. The providers for the initial

          6  allocation of beds have been selected and New York

          7  City will receive about half or 1,538 of these 3,000

          8  beds to be developed.

          9                 Also, in the area of housing, I am

         10  pleased to report the Mayor and the Governor have

         11  reached agreement on a second New York/New York

         12  Program, which will add 1,500 units of housing for

         13  the homeless mentally ill.

         14                 The state appropriated $45.7 million

         15  in its '98/'99 budget, which will be used in

         16  combination with a portion of the $85 million in the

         17  City's budget to fund this second round of housing.

         18                 As you may recall, the first New

         19  York/New York Agreement produced 3,600 new units of

         20  supportive housing which has since provided

         21  placement opportunities for more than 8,000 mentally

         22  ill individuals who were homeless, many of whom

         23  lived in City shelters, state hospitals, or in

         24  parks, subways or other public places.

         25                 In the new agreement the City will
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          2  build 500 new housing units and will open 310 rental

          3  apartments. The apartments will be financed by the

          4  community mental health reinvestment program.

          5                 The state will build 500 new units

          6  and will provide 190 supported apartments for a

          7  total of 1,500 units.

          8                 This initiative will provide service

          9  enriched housing that integrates case management,

         10  substance abuse and employment services for people

         11  with mental illness, and will improve the quality of

         12  life for all City residents.

         13                 I would now like to briefly discuss

         14  the state budget. As you know, the Legislature has

         15  not enacted a budget for Fiscal Year '99/2000 which

         16  started April 1, '99. Both houses in Albany passed

         17  budget resolutions in March, however, conference

         18  committees from the respective houses have not yet

         19  begun to meet to resolve the differences.

         20                 When this process will be completed

         21  can only be speculated on at this point. The

         22  assembly and senate proposals include restoration of

         23  some funding reductions and other changes to the

         24  Governor's original budget proposal, and for mental

         25  health I am pleased to report that the Assembly and
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          2  State proposals concur with the Governor's proposal

          3  for full funding for Year 6 of the community

          4  reinvestment program. In other areas the senate

          5  restores the full $8.2 million cut proposed by the

          6  Governor that would eliminate funding for 215 shared

          7  staff positions located in community-based programs

          8  statewide. The assembly restores half of this cut.

          9                 For children's mental health

         10  services, the assembly resolution proposes $4

         11  million in new funding with the Senate proposing

         12  $2.7 million.

         13                 Turning to housing for the mentally

         14  ill, as you may recall, the Governor proposed no new

         15  money for housing; however, the Assembly has

         16  proposed a modest increase of $3 million for

         17  supportive housing.

         18                 As you know, the Department, in

         19  conjunction with HHC, has completed a process that

         20  involved a capital review of the outcome of the

         21  pilot program at Bellevue and as a result has

         22  recommended expansion of the outpatient civil

         23  commitment program.

         24                 There is considerable interest and

         25  some controversy with regard to this issue in
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          2  Albany, with both the Senate and Assembly having

          3  introduced bills.

          4                 1.55 million dollars was proposed by

          5  the Assembly to expand the Bellevue pilot to four

          6  more sites around the state, and the Senate proposed

          7  $5 million to fund an unspecified alternative to

          8  outpatient civil commitment.

          9                 We are hopeful that we will be able

         10  to negotiate a bill acceptable to all parties by the

         11  close of this session this summer.

         12                 For mental retardation and

         13  developmental disabilities, both the Senate and

         14  Assembly Resolutions support the Governor's proposal

         15  of $24.6 million to fund the New York State CARES

         16  housing initiative.

         17                 Both the Senate and Assembly added

         18  funding for alcoholism and substantive abuse

         19  programs, and for prevention programs the Assembly

         20  proposed $5.5 million and the Senate added $2

         21  million to the Governor's proposed increase of $3

         22  million.

         23                 For treatment programs, in addition

         24  to the 11.5 million proposed by the Governor, the

         25  Assembly adds 9.5 million and the Senate added 3
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          2  million.

          3                 I expect that Fiscal Year 2000 will

          4  be another productive year for the Department.

          5                 We continue to make progress in

          6  expanding the system of community-based services for

          7  the three disabilities which the Department serves.

          8  We are particularly pleased with the two significant

          9  housing initiatives which have been agreed to, New

         10  York State CARES, for the developmentally disabled

         11  population, and the second round of New York/New

         12  York housing for the homeless mentally ill.

         13                 For alcoholism and substance abuse

         14  programs, the new funding, which the Mayor and City

         15  Council have provided to this population will

         16  support significant additional services.

         17                 In addition, the enhancement for

         18  early intervention will enable the program to

         19  continue to serve more children and provide an

         20  opportunity to fully integrate the health

         21  rehabilitation and mental hygiene services for the

         22  target population.

         23                 In summary, the clients served by the

         24  Department's programs are clearly benefitting from

         25  the demonstrated commitment of the Mayor, the City
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          2  Council and the State.

          3                 This concludes my testimony and I

          4  will be happy to answer any questions you may have.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you,

          6  Commissioner.

          7                 Before I introduce my colleagues who

          8  have joined us, and also begin the questioning, let

          9  me take the time to introduce and welcome to the

         10  Chambers, and I understand these are high school

         11  graduates throughout the country, these are

         12  students, high school students, we would like to

         13  welcome you to City Hall.

         14                 So that you understand what is going

         15  on, the gentlemen who was speaking, so you will

         16  know, is the Commissioner of the Department of

         17  Health, Mental Health and Mental Retardation.

         18  Currently we are having joint hearings on the Fiscal

         19  2000 budget for the City, of which the budget of the

         20  City I believe is right now about $35 billion. For

         21  some of you who may come from small towns and

         22  villages throughout the country, this agency alone,

         23  if we go along with a slight transfer without taking

         24  that part out that we will be discussing in case you

         25  cannot stay with us, this agency alone, which is the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            23

          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2  Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and

          3  Alcoholism Services budget is $409 million alone.

          4                 Let me also say that on this side is

          5  the Council members, not only members of this

          6  Committee, but also Council members, since this is

          7  the budget hearing, I preside over, I am Council

          8  Member Victor Robles from Brooklyn.

          9                 Let me also acknowledge my other

         10  colleagues who have joined us, and this way so you

         11  will know who is on this side in case again you stay

         12  with us for awhile and we start asking questions, so

         13  you know who we are: To my extreme left is Council

         14  Member Jose Rivera, from the Bronx, who happens to

         15  also be the chair of the Council's Committee on

         16  Federal and State Legislation, and a member of the

         17  Committee; Council Member Kathryn Freed, who is the

         18  Chair of the Council's Committee on Contracts, she

         19  is from Manhattan; Council Member Una Clarke from

         20  Brooklyn, but also is the chair of the Subcommittee

         21  of this Committee on Mental Health, Mental

         22  Retardation and Alcohol Services; Council Member

         23  Phil Reed, he happens to be one of those who needs a

         24  bridge or a ferry or something, to go from one

         25  borough to the other, he represents parts of
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          2  Manhattan and the Bronx; and my colleague who is

          3  rare in the Council, one of the few Republicans

          4  elected to the City Council from Staten Island, and

          5  he also --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman,

          7  may I remind you that I also need a bridge to get me

          8  to my --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, well, we

         10  have a bridge, we have the Verranzano, we built it

         11  for you.

         12                 Anyway --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman,

         14  can you do anything about the tolls?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Election years do

         16  some funny things. I saw something else addressed

         17  last year, now next year when everybody is running

         18  for Mayor and US Senate and what have you, that may

         19  be a priority issue. But he was recently elected, he

         20  is one of the few who will stay behind after 41 of

         21  us must leave, and that is Council Member Jim Oddo,

         22  from Staten Island.

         23                 The Council is made up of 51 elected

         24  district members, of which each of us get elected to

         25  represent close to 142,000 constituents.
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          2                 Recently we had a referendum on the

          3  ballot which imposed term limits, so that 41 of us,

          4  including myself and other of my colleagues, cannot

          5  run for reelection in the Year 2001. They refer to

          6  us as lame ducks, but don't get me wrong, we are not

          7  dead ducks yet, we can run for anything but City

          8  Council.

          9                 So, I want to welcome you to City

         10  Hall, and especially since we have these

         11  distinguished visitors and I hope you will enjoy

         12  your visit here at City Hall.

         13                 Thank you, again, for joining us.

         14                 Commissioner, before I turn this

         15  part, not only to my colleague who is the chair of

         16  the Subcommittee and my colleagues of the Committee,

         17  let me just share with you, and I said to myself

         18  since I was able to go away for awhile and my

         19  batteries are recharged, I am not going to use my

         20  charged batteries until the real McCoy comes June

         21  5th and the budget. Let me just share with you what

         22  I got out of your testimony. And Matt, good, you are

         23  in the room.

         24                 I want a meeting between you, our

         25  Finance, our Counsel, the Chair of the Subcommittee
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          2  and this Chair, because I must tell you, it sounds

          3  good, looks good, but unless I know where in

          4  Brooklyn, where in Manhattan, where in Staten

          5  Island, where in the Bronx, where in Queens, and you

          6  know something? You are not going to implement

          7  programs that we have to vote upon unless you talk

          8  to us.

          9                 And in the same way that you can

         10  single out where you are doing four care

         11  coordination and vocational enhancement programs in

         12  the Bronx, Brooklyn and Queens, and by the way, you

         13  then identified where they are going to be, Lincoln,

         14  Coney Island, Woodhull, Elmhurst, I think all

         15  programs, whether they are school programs, whether

         16  they are this respite care, what have you, is not

         17  just enough, and I, for one, will not sign off,

         18  simply saying, oh, we are going to put this in

         19  Brooklyn, we are going to put this here, I want to

         20  know who they are, I want to know where they are

         21  going, I want to know how they got to that point,

         22  whether those communities, based upon certain

         23  criterias, so that when my other colleagues who may

         24  not -- when they see it, and they see that their

         25  neighborhoods are ignored or they say that they are
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          2  not being treated fairly, I want to be able to

          3  properly tell them why they were selected. Now, I

          4  only say that and I will just leave it at that.

          5                 You have a lot of programs here, and

          6  I must tell you, someone better sit down and talk to

          7  me before we adopt this budget. Because it is not

          8  enough for me to just simply say we are going to do

          9  alcoholism services in Brooklyn and this and that

         10  and I don't know where in these boroughs it happens

         11  to be. And I have a responsibility to my colleagues,

         12  not only this Committee, but to the Council as an

         13  institution, and I have an obligation also to the

         14  Speaker of this Council, and some of that was, you

         15  know, Speaker initiatives and all of that stuff, you

         16  know, I have been trying to say let's move on it.

         17  Well, I commend you for moving on it, but I want to

         18  know, now that it is said and done, exactly where

         19  they are going to be, and who will implement them,

         20  what communities and what was the criteria; is that

         21  fair, sir?

         22                 Council Member Clarke.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman.

         25                 Let me first, Commissioner, thank you
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          2  for coming, and coming with everybody who can answer

          3  the questions that we have in place.

          4                 Let me first go to the early

          5  intervention program, which in your testimony you

          6  have said will be transferred to the Department of

          7  Health for fiscal 2000. As you know, and we have

          8  been discussing the Department of Mental Health and

          9  its programs, and since early intervention is one of

         10  those programs in the Department of Mental Health,

         11  prior to the announcement of it being transferred

         12  into the Department of Health, the Council was not

         13  notified, and if we are really negotiating in good

         14  faith, I want to ask you, for the record, why was

         15  the program transferred, one, prior to any

         16  negotiation on the merger, one?

         17                 And then if the rational given to us

         18  by OMB was that you could get additional dollars

         19  from some place else, why didn't we seek to get

         20  those monies in prior years, and having read this

         21  and having tried to figure out what is happening

         22  elsewhere in the state, why couldn't the program

         23  remain in the Department of Mental Health and the

         24  Department of Health bill for it without taking the

         25  program out, if there can be a crossover in the
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          2  manner in which you do it?

          3                 So, that is my first question, in

          4  terms of clarification, because I am not sure I was

          5  quite in agreement with the Director of OMB or his

          6  rationale or any of what he said was the reason for

          7  the removal of the programs.

          8                 I have some other thoughts, and if

          9  you will give me your thoughts, I would be very

         10  appreciative.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Gladly. As I

         12  said, Councilwoman, in my testimony, there are two

         13  principle reasons for the transfer from the

         14  Department to the Department of Health, one is

         15  programmatic and the other is fiscal. And I think

         16  that it is clear that we view the transfer to the

         17  Department of Health to serve an opportunity to

         18  provide a more integrated approach to the way we

         19  administer what stands out as a highly

         20  interdisciplinary initiative that is making a very

         21  positive impact on the well-being of children in

         22  this City.

         23                 So, by that I mean, we know that the

         24  early intervention program provides services from a

         25  broad array of areas, the Early Intervention Council
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          2  in New York City is comprised of individuals who are

          3  pediatricians, who are pediatric neurologists, who

          4  are child developmental specialists, as well as

          5  mental health professionals and others, and the

          6  programs that serve the children who are identified

          7  in need of early intervention services cut across

          8  health and mental hygiene sectors.

          9                 In fact, New York City is one of the

         10  only municipalities in this state in which this

         11  program is not administered by the local county

         12  Department of Health.

         13                 And what I see here is an opportunity

         14  by bringing this program into the family health

         15  services sector or division of the Department of

         16  Health, the opportunity is there to link the

         17  administration in a more integrated way with other

         18  initiatives that are now going on and that are

         19  coordinating healthy mental hygiene issues between

         20  the two departments.

         21                 You asked earlier why it had not been

         22  done before, if this is a good idea, and in all

         23  truth, in the past year, as I have served as

         24  Commissioner of the Department of Health, while I

         25  still wear my hat as the Commissioner of the
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          2  Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and

          3  Alcoholism Services, I have been able to initiate

          4  more coordination and collaboration between the two

          5  agencies than had existed before.

          6                 I say that obviously in anticipation

          7  of what we had proposed as a merger of the agencies

          8  in order to affect significant opportunity and

          9  public health to integrate mental health and mental

         10  hygiene issues into the mainstream public health

         11  arena, and over the past year and particularly in

         12  recent months we have had a number of work groups

         13  that have included representatives from the

         14  Department of Mental Health with the Department of

         15  Health to look at ways that we can work very closely

         16  together going forward to enhance services to

         17  children and families and all New Yorkers.

         18                 And there are many siting projects

         19  that we are looking at going forward that will

         20  involve integration and cost-cutting activity.

         21                 When we look at issues such as low

         22  infant birth, which is a high-risk factor for

         23  children who will go on to need early intervention

         24  services as a result of having significant

         25  developmental delays and lags. As you know, at the
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          2  Department of Health we have a Bureau of Maternity

          3  Services and Family Planning which was actually

          4  created to serve and to address the needs of

          5  high-risk mothers and high-risk pregnant women who

          6  are at risk to deliver children who have low birth

          7  weights and who have ongoing health issues, so that

          8  bringing the early intervention program

          9  administratively closely to the new Department of

         10  Health and what I hoped would be a new Department of

         11  Public Health in which we have very tight

         12  integration of mental health, mental hygiene, health

         13  and rehabilitative services will allow us to be more

         14  successful in identifying children who are at risk

         15  for these developmental problems and who belong and

         16  will benefit from linkage with early intervention

         17  services.

         18                 So, I think that this transfer is

         19  happening in FY 2000 because it was not going to be

         20  successful in previous years where the agencies were

         21  not working as closely and collaboratively as they

         22  are today.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Can I just, if I

         24  may?

         25                 Commissioner, I always like to keep
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          2  focused. Let me just say on this issue, before I

          3  forget, this increase you referred to which you said

          4  an additional $15.6 million, $20.6 million for the

          5  early intervention program was in Fiscal Year '99

          6  and now the Year 2000, the Fiscal Year '99 $15.6

          7  million, that is in your agency, I mean the

          8  Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation,

          9  correct?

         10                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The increase of

         12  the $20.6 million, which you are talking about the

         13  Fiscal Year 2000, that is -- well, it is being

         14  proposed if we transfer, if we, as we adopt this

         15  budget, allow it to be transferred into DOH; is that

         16  correct?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It is exactly

         18  correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I just wanted to

         20  make sure on that one.

         21                 Second, and I understand that it was

         22  removed from this Committee and it is in some other

         23  committee, but I have not heard, or at least I often

         24  ask my colleague and I even ask myself, because I

         25  read and I have people sending me letters and calls
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          2  about rumors about the merger, well, if there was an

          3  attempt to move on the merger, then why doesn't this

          4  proposal, this plan, reflect that?

          5                 You see, I am a little confused where

          6  you are asking to plan for it, which is what Council

          7  Member Clarke is pursuing, and when I speak to her,

          8  and I said to you before, she raised an issue which

          9  was brought to my attention, which in fairness, I

         10  need clarification.

         11                 If we don't have the merger and this

         12  component is one of many, then why this only? And

         13  when I was briefed this morning I was told because

         14  administratively you can then and DOH tap into funds

         15  that you don't currently receive from the state

         16  because it is the Department of Mental Health; is

         17  that correct, what I was told?

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That is correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But I repeat,

         20  since it is going to come, where are we with the

         21  merger? Are we moving on it? Do you expect it to

         22  happen as we adopt this budget? If it is not, then

         23  her concern is one of understanding, because what I

         24  think I am hearing is, you start chipping away and

         25  sooner or later you get to the merger. And if I am
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          2  wrong, correct me.

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Councilman, you

          4  know I am an advocate for the merger of the two

          5  agencies, so I cannot --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, I

          7  am not talking about that. Let me set the record

          8  straight, sir. And I have always said that to you,

          9  just when I propose something that gives the

         10  impression that I am opposed, I am not. I am not

         11  opposed to it. I respect -- listen, before you

         12  became Commissioner of Health, and I became the

         13  Chairman of this Committee, the number one person

         14  who came with bouquets from everyone was you in the

         15  Department of Mental Health, the advocates, the

         16  voluntary sector, the providers, you know. So,

         17  please don't do that, because I am not questioning

         18  the respect that I have for you and that respect

         19  which the providers have for you. I think these are

         20  questions that we need to raise and get straight

         21  answers. I mean, answer it, but don't leave the

         22  impression like I am questioning, you know, you as

         23  the Commissioner and whether I believe you or I

         24  trust you, that is not the issue here, sir.

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I didn't mean to
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          2  infer that you were questioning that.

          3                 I should point out, as you know, that

          4  the Administration never created a peg that was

          5  associated with the proposed merger of the two

          6  agencies. So, there was not actually a significant

          7  cost savings that was felt to be associated with the

          8  two agencies merging into a new Department of Public

          9  Health. The largest or greatest fiscal impact comes

         10  from the ability to become eligible for Article 6

         11  state matching funds which is $3.3 million. So this

         12  transfer actually takes care of what would be the

         13  most significant economic issue associated with this

         14  merger, and it seems prudent to have that occur as

         15  soon as possible in Fiscal Year 2000 so the City

         16  could start collecting those state matching dollars.

         17                 Now, with regard to why we haven't

         18  done the whole thing in this executive budget, let

         19  me ask Dan Still to give you one explanation with

         20  which we have a concern about, which has prompted

         21  this more partial transfer.

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes,

         23  I am Dan Still, the First Deputy Commissioner of the

         24  Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and

         25  Alcoholism Services.
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          2                 As you recall, last year the

          3  Executive Budget did propose the merger of the two

          4  agencies July 1, 1998, and we had early indications

          5  that would probably be approved and we put into

          6  motion a number of administrative activities

          7  relating to the functional transfer of the

          8  individuals involved, meetings with the unions

          9  involved and most importantly, the recoding of our

         10  Department of Mental Health contracts to come under

         11  the nomenclature of the new Department.

         12                 While obviously, as you know, the

         13  merger was not approved, and at the 11th hour we

         14  really had to take apart all of the preliminary work

         15  we did with the merger, so in consultation with the

         16  Office of Management and Budget, we decided that

         17  this year we shouldn't undergo all of that

         18  preliminary work, particularly with implementation

         19  of the new FRS system, until we had an approval by

         20  the Council.

         21                 So, from a technical point of view, I

         22  think that has been discussed with the Finance

         23  people at the Council, that is the primary reason,

         24  one of the reasons, I don't know if it is the only

         25  reason, the financial reason for it, and as the
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          2  Commissioner indicated, we think we can handle the

          3  transition of the early intervention program and

          4  realize a savings without getting into the technical

          5  problems that would be involved in a proposal that

          6  had to be then backtracked on.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Let me just

          8  then get a clarifying question on these dollars

          9  then.

         10                 Would there be a specific unit of

         11  appropriation that would give the adequate

         12  oversight?  Of the persons who are contracted to do

         13  this work, as providers of care, how would we, and

         14  what would be the mechanism, knowing the money was

         15  first in the Department of Mental Health or that

         16  would be foregone and then we would only have

         17  oversight of this money within the Department, and

         18  how would that occur?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes,

         20  Councilwoman, we would continue to have unique

         21  budget codes for this program that would be clearly

         22  identifiable.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: One of the

         24  advocates, as well as many providers, concern in the

         25  mental health community will be the oversight of
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          2  their dollars that they see is appropriated for

          3  mental health, mental retardation and alcoholism

          4  services and the kind of oversight of their contract

          5  as it is being done in the Department of Mental

          6  Health right now as units of appropriation, because

          7  I could do an oversight on alcoholism and figure out

          8  what you do with the money. I could call you in for

          9  developmental disabilities, look at an oversight of

         10  how those monies and those programs are run, as

         11  would be for mental health, the greatest concern is

         12  for many, and some probably won't tell you as they

         13  have told me, is the commingling of their dollars

         14  and figuring that their money will be whittled away

         15  and then you have some great need in the area of

         16  health, mental health may really just get

         17  sidetracked. And although we are talking about

         18  whether we merge or not, and I am sure that the

         19  discussion will continue, my greatest concern is

         20  like when we did not agree to sell the hospitals,

         21  all of a sudden a lot of the services went away,

         22  some hospitals don't have them anymore, and we now

         23  can't sell the hospitals and then the services have

         24  been removed, and in a changing health care

         25  environment, and I have said openly that I always
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          2  believe that health and mental health is a unit of

          3  the same body and mind working together, and that I

          4  have never had any question about that. But I have

          5  always had a question about people who are disabled

          6  and for who all their life is going to be disabled

          7  and whether in fact their services will be as

          8  protected and maintained as with the mental health

          9  and alcoholism services also. So, if you can address

         10  some of those concerns now as we are doing budget,

         11  it will give us a sense of where you are going, what

         12  you are thinking and when a merger takes place.

         13                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We are seriously

         14  committed to maintaining discrete units of

         15  allocation for the mental hygiene sectors in a

         16  merged agency. Apart from the reality that these

         17  dollars are uniquely targeted to those service

         18  areas, we recognize that it is important, both in

         19  terms of our oversight, our accountability and our

         20  ability to provide and maintain a strong management

         21  of those dollars that we would need units of

         22  allocation that would be identifiable both within

         23  the agency, as well as to OMB and any of the

         24  oversight arenas, such as your own.

         25                 Again, I would like to emphasize
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          2  that, you know, talking now about the early

          3  intervention program, I find it very exciting that

          4  we would be able to take a program that is doing

          5  well but actually look at young children at risk for

          6  significant problems in development that we may be

          7  missing now, because we have not been able to call

          8  upon all of the resources that our Department of

          9  Health has to offer in this issue, so that we have

         10  maybe 8,000 who were born who have low birth weight,

         11  but only several hundred who are getting into early

         12  intervention in any one year, which means that I

         13  would like very much to be able to call upon the

         14  resources of our Family Health Division to reach out

         15  into those communities where the children at risk

         16  for these developmental problems are born and are

         17  living in order to provide outreach that can link

         18  them successfully with the services they need to

         19  thrive, so that this transfer right now leads to

         20  several steps of coordination and collaboration

         21  between the agencies that will benefit those young

         22  children who are at risk.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Commissioner,

         24  that sounds very good. So, tell me, what is the role

         25  in Health First in early intervention programs, what
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          2  additional funds are paid for? Give me the

          3  relationship between your oversight and

          4  responsibility and Health First, because I didn't

          5  get the connection when I was getting my briefing.

          6  So, if you will just tell us what is their role as a

          7  master contractor of your programs?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes,

          9  I will answer that question.

         10                 Health First is currently the firm

         11  that has been engaged by the Department of Mental

         12  Health as the fiscal agent to receive and pay claims

         13  under the state regulations for their early

         14  intervention program, and this is a fairly common

         15  practice in large health programs, such as a

         16  Medicaid-type programs or other programs where there

         17  are a very, very large volume, literally thousands

         18  of claims that have to be processed and check

         19  against the fees for each kind of service, and we do

         20  not anticipate changing this procedure under the

         21  proposed merger.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: How were they

         23  selected, and then how do you conduct any evaluation

         24  of their performance? How do you know that they are

         25  doing all that they should do based on criteria that
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          2  you have set?--

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: The

          4  firm First Health was selected pursuant to an RFP

          5  process, and the Department performs ongoing audits,

          6  including outside CPA audits of the firm to ensure

          7  that they are performing at a level specified in the

          8  contract. And as you may have heard from the

          9  provider community or learned in your travels

         10  throughout the City when you visit early

         11  intervention programs, the program does in fact have

         12  a very, very strong reputation for both prompt

         13  payment and timely processing of claims, not only to

         14  pay the providers but to claim state aid for the

         15  Department.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Do they

         17  subcontract with any other agency for the work that

         18  they do? Or do you know whether they do?

         19                 Are they allowed to, I mean clinical

         20  services, support services?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: No,

         22  no. They really are a fiscal intermediary and they

         23  don't in fact provide any services. They process the

         24  claiming part of the program and they do not

         25  subcontract, they do it with their office in New
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          2  York City.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay.

          4                 Commissioner, let me just ask you

          5  about alcoholism services a little bit and then we

          6  will come back to mental health.

          7                 Of the 9.5 million that was allocated

          8  by the Council for substance abuse services, can you

          9  tell us for Fiscal 1999/2000, I know in your

         10  testimony you talked about where the programs were

         11  and how the money was spent, can you give us some

         12  further detail on that?

         13                 You took the money out in '99?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me try to set

         15  this straight so we understand it.

         16                 Commissioner, of the total Council

         17  Initiative which the Council Member is referring to,

         18  and the budget mod, whatever was left, which is

         19  about $2 million, was left in HHC; is that correct?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: For substance

         21  abuse services?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That is what we

         23  are talking about, correct?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes. I think the
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          2  question, now I will follow it up. Whatever the

          3  money was, I think it was 9 point something million,

          4  but unfortunately, because of the dilemma we find

          5  ourselves after we adopted our budget, and because

          6  there was no money spent, and even when we did the

          7  two budget mods, if I remember correctly, on in

          8  November and one in January, the total pot was

          9  reduced, and what was left was $2 million; is that

         10  correct?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Yes,

         12  I think it was actually $2.4 million.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fine.

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: Two

         15  million for HHC and another 400,000, yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good. The

         17  question now I believe is, what did we do with it?

         18  How did HHC spend it? How monitored it? I think that

         19  is what really the question is.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Including, you

         21  know, how alcoholism funds planned for the new

         22  fiscal year, and what are some of the programmatic

         23  priorities? Because we outlayed some on the terms

         24  and conditions and we want to make sure that those

         25  were adhered to.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, but I want

          3  to make sure, as you say that statement, because I

          4  watched you on Crosswalks, while I could not make

          5  the hearings, and I remember he was sitting there

          6  and so was the First Deputy, and I believe that

          7  Commissioner Neal Cohen did not answer you, but his

          8  First Deputy did, and his First Deputy said that the

          9  terms and conditions were not accepted.

         10                 So, having said that, before I get

         11  into now the alcohol, there is still a drug

         12  initiative, and I would like to know, because it was

         13  a Council initiative, and that was done before I

         14  became the chair, and I want to know, from the 2.5

         15  million, where has it spent? It is HHC, how did they

         16  spend it? What are the CBOs, or whatever the

         17  programs were that they worked with, I think that is

         18  the question, then they moved onto the alcohol which

         19  was an additional appropriation of funds, a Council

         20  initiative; is that correct, Council Member?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: That's

         22  correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, before I lose

         24  track of Council initiatives, let me have you answer

         25  about the $2.5 million in HHC, how do they spend it,
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          2  where do they spend it, what was the criteria?

          3                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, our focus in

          4  the substance abuse arena was to support a model of

          5  integrated services so that we would have

          6  substantive treatments, programs that would have

          7  significant capacity to offer mental health services

          8  because of what we call the co-morbidity or the

          9  co-occurrence of mental health issues with substance

         10  abuse disorders, as well as the introduced

         11  opportunities for significant vocational training

         12  and potential competitive employment for people who

         13  are receiving these treatment services.

         14                 So, our priority was to provide

         15  funding that would allow enhancement of staffing

         16  that would offer the skills necessary to provide

         17  vocational training, support, counseling and

         18  eventually return to the work place in the

         19  community.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, I

         21  apologize, I don't like to do this. We are

         22  discussing the $2.5 million which is the drug

         23  initiative, the Council Initiative, the Speaker

         24  Initiative; is that what you are saying to me?

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, in that

          3  appropriation, was there discussion, and your

          4  implementation, was that after consultation? Since

          5  it was a Council initiative and a Speaker's

          6  Initiative? I am not aware where we signed off on

          7  anything, but I appreciate you telling that to us.

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, the

          9  Council's focus on this initiative was to expand on

         10  outpatient services for substance abuse treatment,

         11  and in the course of the last year, when we have

         12  gotten the opportunity to testify and talk about the

         13  needs for integration of substance abuse services

         14  with mental health and introduction with more

         15  employment services, we have shared with you that it

         16  was our intention to expand upon this integrated

         17  model which we have used at Cumberland Diagnostic

         18  and Treatment Center in what appears to be a very

         19  effective model in New York City at this time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Now, that

         21  is the drug initiative. Now you want to move on to

         22  the --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes, I just

         24  wanted to know alcoholism itself.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Because I want to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            49

          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2  make sure I understand, now on the Council

          3  Initiative, which is the Speaker's initiative, there

          4  was an appropriation of funds for, and I believe it

          5  was $1 million?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: That's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And now I think

          8  the question is, there was a million dollars put

          9  into alcohol prevention programs, then the questions

         10  are a fair one, what happened to it? Was it

         11  contracted out? If it was contracted out, where was

         12  it contracted out? What borough? And last, but not

         13  least, what is the geographical area that you serve

         14  under this current program that we are talking

         15  about?

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes, the $1

         17  million that was allocated by the Council in FY '99

         18  for alcoholism services, we have utilized $450,000

         19  of that amount for the enhancement of three after

         20  school counseling programs. More specifically than

         21  in my testimony, those programs are at Jacobi

         22  Hospital in the Bronx, at Lutheran Hospital in

         23  Brooklyn, and Boys Harbor in Manhattan. These are

         24  funded at $150,000 each, and other than for the

         25  Health and Hospitals Corporation, these programs are
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          2  all procured through negotiated acquisition.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am not sure,

          4  you said Jacobi and where else?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Lutheran

          6  Hospital, and Boys Harbor in Manhattan.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me make sure

          8  I understand this also.

          9                 Were you aware of that?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: No.

         11                 Commissioner, can you explain to me

         12  what acquired, whatever that word is, are you saying

         13  you did not RFP those out? You tacked them onto

         14  existing contracts, is that what you are saying?

         15                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: The negotiated

         16  acquisition process is still --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Negotiated

         18  acquisition, that is a new word. The new word for

         19  RFP?

         20                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: No, it is

         21  somewhat different.

         22                 Nevertheless, it is competitive and

         23  it does allow for somewhat of a shortening of the

         24  duration of the procurement process that we normally

         25  go through, hopefully by at least several months, in
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          2  which we identify some prospective contractors for

          3  these services in the communities that we want to

          4  serve, and we developed a negotiation process with

          5  them at which eventually they will apply formally

          6  and their program proposal is rated competitively by

          7  an independent review board at the Department.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So the rest of

          9  the money wasn't spent. I just want to put on record

         10  that we made specific, in doing funding last time,

         11  that you would target young people who were at risk

         12  of becoming alcoholics and that education seems to

         13  be done with it. I want to know where we are and

         14  what is the status of prevention in terms of young

         15  people?

         16                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: We certainly

         17  targeted those communities that, according to OASAS

         18  data, provide for us information that there are high

         19  prevalence communities for alcoholism and substance

         20  abuse, so that we specifically looked at those areas

         21  that we would see more young people who would be at

         22  risk for addiction.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Since you did

         24  single out the institution, some of us don't know

         25  what those communities are, and since you are
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          2  relying on a state data, I think OASAS is a state

          3  agency, correct?

          4                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Then for me

          6  from Brooklyn, I don't care what borough it is, just

          7  help me out, what were those communities that now we

          8  have three locations where a state office for

          9  alcohol services stats show that these areas are

         10  where you have a high concentration of adolescents

         11  and alcohol; I think that is what you are saying.

         12                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Correct. I would

         13  be happy to provide this additional information for

         14  the Council.

         15                 I can tell you right now that in the

         16  Bronx the Jacobi Community Districts are 9, 10, 11

         17  and 12. In Brooklyn, Lutheran Hospital will be

         18  serving Community Districts 7 and 10, and the Boys

         19  Harbor Program has been offered as a Citywide

         20  program and is not limited to one or two community

         21  districts.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Since I don't

         23  know what Boys Harbor is, where is that located?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Manhattan.

         25                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: It is a Manhattan
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          2  agency.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, fine.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay.

          5  Commissioner, these are some items that were not

          6  generally in the preliminary budget but which I have

          7  asked you to consider in this year's budget for

          8  allocation and for consideration, and one was case

          9  management services, following the unfortunate, two

         10  incidents that we have had, and how we may be able

         11  to develop models of --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: If I may, Council

         13  member, because again, in fairness to some of my

         14  colleagues, they may not have the same document you

         15  have, and since we started on an issue, let's finish

         16  it.

         17                 Let's go back to this adolescent

         18  alcohol -- clearly you identified the 450,000, what

         19  happened to the other -- there is one for I believe

         20  350,000, and then there was another one for

         21  $200,000; is that correct?

         22                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Looking at page

         24  three.

         25                 Let's first find out, again, this
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          2  350,000, which is for counseling and social services

          3  for an additional 425 families in Manhattan and

          4  Queens; where in Manhattan? Where in Queens? And who

          5  is the CBO or who is providing that service?

          6                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: There are two

          7  contractors. For Queens that is Long Island Jewish

          8  Hillside Hospital, which is Community District 11 in

          9  Queens, and an agency that is called Single Parent

         10  Resource Center, that is in Manhattan. Both of these

         11  programs were funded $175,000 each and we anticipate

         12  that they will serve 475 families --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: 425 families.

         14                 Okay, now, was these contracts

         15  competitive, or this was something that was

         16  administratively decided?

         17                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: These are

         18  negotiated --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Negotiated

         20  acquisition.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: That is a new

         22  word. Negotiation acquisition, I will get it folks,

         23  don't worry.

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: These contracts

         25  are combinations of negotiated acquisition
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          2  procurement or amendments to existing contracts, and

          3  I would have to get back to you to let you know

          4  which ones were specifically procured through

          5  negotiated acquisition.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So you see why in

          7  my opening remarks I said what I said. You know, I

          8  have a responsibility, Commissioner, that while I

          9  have nine members of this Committee, I still have to

         10  keep in mind that there is 51 of us. And in

         11  fairness, if these programs are being implemented

         12  throughout the City of New York as part of the

         13  budget process that we put together, and we had two

         14  budget mods, and some of it is in this fiscal year

         15  and now we are talking about next year, fiscal year,

         16  don't you think it would be wise to at least, if

         17  nobody else informed this chair of who is who, where

         18  they are going to be -- you mentioned community

         19  boards, don't you think that there are five

         20  delegations in the City of New York so that I as the

         21  Chairman of the Committee will say to the liaison of

         22  that delegation at a hearing, or as we negotiate the

         23  budget, or during the proposed budget, I want you to

         24  know, you may not find it in the proposed budget

         25  because the detail was not spelled out. But I
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          2  ascertain, and I understand that in Queens this

          3  group will be providing the following services, and

          4  these are the communities that are targeted. So that

          5  the adjoining community board that may hear about

          6  this good program -- now, mind you, I am not saying

          7  anything, maybe it is a good program, might get

          8  jealous and say how come it is there and not with us

          9  and then I have to explain to them how we got to

         10  that? Do you understand where I am coming from, sir?

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I believe I do.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I said the same

         13  thing when you came here in March, didn't I, about I

         14  had a problem because you mentioned things and I

         15  didn't know exactly where, and I did ask since, and

         16  I just remembered, someone whispered in my ear and

         17  told me, that I did ask these questions during your

         18  appearance here in March about the locations, the

         19  who is who, the CBOs, have you provided us with that

         20  information? Globally, generally in your prepared

         21  remarks you have a lot of new initiatives that may

         22  go from the Preliminary budget, carried over, or new

         23  initiative that may have not been in the preliminary

         24  budget, and I will tell you why I am troubled, and I

         25  need to get a handle on this because I try to be as
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          2  flexible as possible as I can to my colleague, the

          3  Chair of the Subcommittee.

          4                 When I turned to the Chair of the

          5  Subcommittee and I asked her are you aware about

          6  this and she keeps telling me no, there has been no

          7  discussion, I mean if I have to take back control, I

          8  will. Because the ultimate person who is responsible

          9  for the Committee is me. So, I just want to leave it

         10  at that.

         11                 I have other Council members who

         12  would like to ask questions.

         13                 We have also been joined by Council

         14  Member Chris Quinn from Manhattan.

         15                 Council Member Freed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair.

         18                 I was wondering, I was looking over

         19  the document we have on the contract budget, and

         20  from Fiscal '99 to I guess Fiscal 2000, or at least

         21  the adopted budget down to the modified contract

         22  budget, you dropped almost ten percent, it is like

         23  64 contracts. I was wondering if there was a

         24  particular reason for that and in what area were

         25  those contracts?
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: We

          3  would have to examine that because it may be some

          4  issues with the carry-over grants that will get

          5  reestablished in the budget, because as an overview

          6  I can't assure you that we in fact have not reduced

          7  services. So I think that is an artifact of the

          8  report in the contract here and I will have to

          9  examine it and go over it contract by contract and

         10  get back to you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: All right,

         12  because we recently had a hearing in the Contracts

         13  Committee with a number of contracts that are

         14  literally still out there from last year's budget,

         15  so I am wondering if some of them are maybe not

         16  certified, if there are some of the smaller agencies

         17  or vendors --

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: No

         19  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Community

         21  groups that we contract with that haven't been paid

         22  or hasn't been certified yet.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER STILL: No.

         24  To answer that part of your question, I don't think

         25  it is an issue of the Department not having

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            59

          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2  processed the paperwork of the contract.

          3                 There were a number of contracts that

          4  crossed over the year in which the state entered

          5  into a program to replace net deficit funding with

          6  Medicaid and other revenue sources, but again I will

          7  have to take a look at the documentation and we will

          8  go through it. But we did not drop services from one

          9  year to the other.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         11                 When you look at it, see, as I said,

         12  if there are contracts, or if there are providers

         13  who are actually providing the services but there is

         14  a delay in their contract being approved, whether it

         15  is through the Mayor's Office on Contracts or the

         16  Comptroller's Office or whatever. Because that did

         17  seem to be a big chunk to drop.

         18                 And then I had a couple of quick

         19  questions. I notice that you mentioned I guess

         20  housing -- you said that you had just in conjunction

         21  with HHC completed a process and were reviewing the

         22  expansion of a pilot program, I guess this is on

         23  housing for the mentally ill at Bellevue?

         24                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: I was actually

         25  referring to the involuntary outpatient commitment
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          2  pilot program that we are proposing to expand in the

          3  next fiscal year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Could you tell

          5  me how many people that involved and how much it

          6  costs, and the general idea of what the services

          7  were?

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: This was a

          9  program that allowed for court ordered outpatient

         10  treatment of approximately 125 people. There were at

         11  the same time another so-called control group of

         12  people who were being followed by the same

         13  coordinating team at Bellevue.

         14                 Referencing Councilwoman Clarke's

         15  question that she began to pose regarding case

         16  management, I believe we saw a very effective

         17  program at Bellevue be able to significantly reduce

         18  the rate of rehospitalization for seriously and

         19  chronically mentally ill people because of very

         20  close case management and care coordination with

         21  enhanced services. And this is a model that we would

         22  very much going forward like to expand upon. And in

         23  our own community reinvestment funding for year six,

         24  we will give serious consideration to how we might

         25  be able to expand case management services in the
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          2  City for a variety of populations that seem to get

          3  significant benefit from that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay. I think

          5  that is really it.

          6                 Mr. Chair, because I have to leave by

          7  4:00, could I ask a question? You mentioned the

          8  immunization program to me --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am sorry, wait,

         10  wait, wait, folks. Hold it. Hold it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Could I just

         12  ask that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I didn't hear

         14  your first question?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Because I have

         16  to leave at 4:00, I was wondering if I could ask

         17  about the immunization program that you brought up

         18  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: No. That is in

         20  the Department of Health.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Fortunately I

         23  know he wears two hats but I have Dr. Hirsch who I

         24  saw sitting in the audience, the Chief Medical

         25  Examiner, and that question, if you don't ask,
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          2  believe me, this Chair is going to ask.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Because in March

          5  when he came, that is how I found out about those

          6  ten schools. So, I am prepared to ask those

          7  questions, but you will be able to ask that question

          8  when the Commissioner of the Department of Health,

          9  Neal Cohen, comes before the Committee.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: In that case,

         11  thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         13  Quinn.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thanks.

         15                 First I would just like to say that I

         16  have yet to hear from you or your agency as a

         17  follow-up to the Hepatitis hearing, so I am anxious

         18  to have those meetings and it would be great if

         19  somebody could call me or my office today. I will be

         20  down here a lot this week because of the budget, so

         21  it might be a perfect time.

         22                 In your testimony you talk about an

         23  additional $5 million for methadone maintenance

         24  programs. Recently, as we all know, there has been a

         25  lot of debate in the City about the effectiveness of
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          2  methadone programs, et cetera, and wanted to know if

          3  you could outline what the $5 million would be for

          4  and if we are going to be seeing a change in any

          5  way, shape or form in how the methadone programs are

          6  run by the City, based on the political dialogue et

          7  cetera, that happened a year or so ago?

          8                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Yes. I was

          9  reporting specifically on five methadone programs

         10  that are operated by Health and Hospitals

         11  Corporation that historically have been methadone

         12  maintenance programs, and the Mayor has expressed

         13  the point of view that we are seeing historically a

         14  predominant and a dependence on methadone

         15  maintenance in the City, approximately 70 percent of

         16  all of the treatment slots for substance abuse are

         17  carried out through Methadone Maintenance Programs.

         18                 We would like very much to encourage

         19  people who are able to move from their addiction

         20  into a drug-free life and integration into

         21  productive community life where possible, and this

         22  allocation has been made in order to make it

         23  possible for these five programs at Bellevue,

         24  Elmhurst, Harlem, Kings County and Metropolitan

         25  Hospital to bring on board staffing that will
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          2  provide enhanced services to individuals, both in

          3  terms of counseling, as well as employment training

          4  and opportunities for integration with competitive

          5  employment opportunities that will support somebody

          6  who is making a commitment to lead a drug-free

          7  existence.

          8                 At this point these programs are

          9  roughly 2000 of the larger number of 30,000

         10  treatment slots that are provided by substance

         11  abuse, by methadone maintenance providers in New

         12  York City. So, all in all this is still a small

         13  percentage of the total number of methadone services

         14  that are offered in the City.

         15                 We do think that it will be

         16  important, though, to make this investment to

         17  determine whether indeed whether we can demonstrate

         18  that a new model that provides enhanced services and

         19  support can be more effective in allowing people to

         20  move into productive reintegration into community

         21  life.

         22                 So, at the cost of $5 million, I

         23  think that over the next year we will have a good

         24  experience with programs that have this orientation

         25  and to see if they can be successful in achieving
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          2  those outcome goals, and if they are successful we

          3  would certainly turn to the state, which is

          4  responsible for the funding and oversight of the

          5  other methadone programs in New York City, to ask

          6  them to similarly provide enhanced services so we

          7  can offer more to the clients who currently were

          8  receiving only the maintenance services.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So, just so

         10  that I can understand it, this $5 million is only --

         11  you are only eligible to benefit or participate in

         12  services funded by these $5 million if you have

         13  agreed to go off of methadone; is that correct?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, not

         15  exactly. The programs are trying to encourage people

         16  to pursue a methadone to abstinence route. Their

         17  arms are not twisted, however, and clinically if

         18  they are not able to be able to stay or more

         19  progressively to be methadone free, they are not

         20  dropped from the program.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What does then

         22  happen to them if they are not dropped?

         23                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, they

         24  continue in the program, and they continue to

         25  receive the enhanced services that these programs
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          2  now will be able to offer.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And for what

          4  period of time?

          5                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Actually, and I

          6  think you will be able to get more precise

          7  information from HHC when they come in to testify

          8  because each of the five programs is doing something

          9  a little bit differently. There is not one model for

         10  each program to pursue, so I think they all have a

         11  different protocol that is focused in the same way

         12  on hopefully being able to achieve abstinence from

         13  drugs, including methadone, but they have different

         14  time frames for this accomplishment.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: If I may?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Sure, go ahead.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Would you recite

         18  again those locations that you were referring to in

         19  terms of the institutions? Because I heard you but I

         20  lost --

         21                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Sure. The five

         22  programs in Health and Hospitals Corporation are at

         23  Bellevue, Elmhurst, Harlem Hospital, Kings County

         24  and Metropolitan. Those are the five methadone

         25  programs at HHC.
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          2                 So, the $5 million is only targeted

          3  to --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Wait. Are you

          5  saying there is no methadone program at WoodHull

          6  Hospital? Okay, all right.

          7                 Go ahead, Council Member.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: In the budget,

          9  this new money and these new, five new initiatives,

         10  what is the -- how does one get chosen to be part of

         11  this? How is it that you don't get your arm twisted

         12  but end up in this program? Could you just tell me

         13  how that is going to work?

         14                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, again,

         15  there are different protocols. There is no policy to

         16  deny methadone treatment services to people who are

         17  not able to move from methadone abstinence, so we

         18  are in fact, in the oversight role that we have, as

         19  well as OASAS, we would be very clear to monitor

         20  that patients are given full opportunity to

         21  participate and that there is no segregation, if you

         22  will, of resources from one group of patients to

         23  another.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, let
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          2  me just say we have been joined by Council Member

          3  Pedro Espada of the Bronx.

          4                 Let me ask you a question, since I

          5  see no other questions before us.

          6                 You have a question?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: A question.

          9                 Council Member Clarke, before I ask

         10  mine.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay.

         12  Commissioner, the issue of case management, which we

         13  discussed for mental health, and dollar proposal

         14  especially in the Expense budget, and the

         15  Administration's position on outreach, whether we

         16  put them in the assertive, the ACT program or in the

         17  ICM or a model that comes from the new programs that

         18  are in the community, and that would be the club

         19  houses, or the psychosocial clubs, whichever is less

         20  expensive as an outreach, and today the Department

         21  of the Aging described for us their case management

         22  and their computerized system of how they get in

         23  touch with every elderly person who is supposed to

         24  get health care, because it is in their system, so

         25  they can touch a button, know when somebody didn't
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          2  go and I asked whether you could take a look at what

          3  they do to manage elder care and see whether we

          4  could do something similar to those in treatment in

          5  mental health so that nobody can fall through the

          6  cracks, and would like to have some further

          7  discussion with you during the budget on the issue

          8  of case management.

          9                 Also, violence prevention. In this

         10  year's budget, whether you will address that, and

         11  also continuation, whether you can match the policy

         12  of the state concerning chemical abusers, I would

         13  like you to consider that before you come back to us

         14  or during the budget, that you take a look at those

         15  aspects of mental health. It was not addressed

         16  either in your testimony or in the preliminary

         17  budget.

         18                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: As you know, we

         19  have our community mental health reinvestment

         20  planning for this coming fiscal year, so we have had

         21  public hearings and each borough has provided us an

         22  opportunity to hear from consumers and providers and

         23  stakeholders in those communities. So, we are

         24  reviewing the testimony. Obviously there are issues

         25  that are coming to the surface in a more urgent way,
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          2  such as the case management, which is something that

          3  we have supported for a number of years, recognizing

          4  that case management for people who are otherwise

          5  difficult to engage in treatment services is

          6  critically important in order to maintain them in

          7  delivery of care.

          8                 We have case management across a

          9  broad number of program areas, we referred just to a

         10  few of them, such as the ACT teams, as well as the

         11  other outreach programs that we have, we have short

         12  term case management to link people from the

         13  hospitals into community-based care, and in the last

         14  two years we have been very active in seeking to

         15  engage the criminal justice population through case

         16  management services and our LINK programs.

         17                 So we will be looking at our

         18  reinvestment dollars to see in what ways we can

         19  enhance case management. In fact, we think somewhere

         20  between 15 and 20 percent of our allocation in the

         21  first five years has actually been able to be used

         22  for a variety of case management services.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: And finally,

         24  as you know, we have put a task force together of a

         25  variety of everybody in the mental health field,
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          2  including developmental disabilities. They are to

          3  come with recommendations in terms of investment, I

          4  mean tax levy dollars that I would like you to walk

          5  across the hall with before budget negotiations to

          6  make sure that we provide and really have a safety

          7  net for all aspects of mental health, and I am

          8  respectfully putting it on the record now to let you

          9  know that we intend to negotiate and talk with you

         10  to make sure that the services are preserved,

         11  maintained and increased, because it is an

         12  increasing population in which they have not been

         13  increasing investment.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Commissioner, let

         16  me go into one area, since I see Dr. Hirsch here;

         17  and that is, in Fiscal Year '99, in the November

         18  modification $280,000 was transferred from HHC --

         19  well, I will tell you what, let me give you a heads

         20  up. Because I am going to try to give you a break,

         21  we will bring in Dr. Hirsch, because I am sure it

         22  will be 1, 2, 3, but I want to come back.

         23                 And Dr. Hirsch, since I am going to

         24  do you a favor, I don't want you to leave, I want

         25  you to listen to the Commissioner to what his answer
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          2  is, to the same question I am going to pose to you,

          3  since I just realized, because I get confused with

          4  the hats, you are mental health, I will wait and I

          5  will defer.

          6                 Like in the past, I have always --

          7  that is why I allowed my colleague to ask a

          8  question, I normally allow the Commissioner to have

          9  the last word. As the Commissioner of Mental Health

         10  you have the right to the last word, sir.

         11                 COMMISSIONER COHEN: Well, in the

         12  interest of time I would want to be very brief. I

         13  just want to underscore what I said earlier. I feel

         14  very strongly and genuinely that we have received

         15  very strong support from the Council and the

         16  Administration in being able to build upon a

         17  community mental health system that only five years

         18  ago was very weak, unfortunately, because after

         19  decades of downsizing of the State psychiatric

         20  system in the state and country, there had been very

         21  little reinvestment in the communities, and given

         22  the interest of the Council, the community, and

         23  support in the community, given the Administration's

         24  support for mental hygiene sectors over the past

         25  several years, we have made a lot of advances and I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            73

          1  DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

          2  look forward to working with you to accomplish even

          3  more.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you,

          6  Commissioner.

          7                 What I am going to ask of you is,

          8  allow me to call Dr. Hirsch, since I only have one

          9  question, and then bring you back as the

         10  Commissioner of Health; is that okay with you?

         11                 Okay, the Chief Medical Examiner.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 4:00 p.m.)
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